
The full agenda packet can be found on the Planning Board webpage at: keenenh.gov/planning-board. 

 

City of Keene Planning Board 

AGENDA 

Monday, November 24, 2025  6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers 

A. AGENDA ITEMS 

1) Call to Order – Roll Call 

2) Minutes of Previous Meeting – October 27, 2025 

3) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 

4) Public Hearing: Amendments to the Planning Board Regulations – The Planning Board 
proposes to amend its Subdivision Regulations, Site Development Standards, Earth 
Excavation Regulations, and Application Procedures in the Land Development Code, 
including Sections 20.2, 21.6, 25.3, 25.5, 26.10, 26.12, 26.14 and 26.19. The proposed 
amendments are intended to clarify language within the code, correct errors with respect 
to wording, update submittal requirements to match current practice, and reflect recent 
changes to state law regarding the timeframes for “Active and Substantial Development” 
and “Substantial Completion” of subdivision and site plan applications. In addition, the 
proposed amendments would modify the Board’s Site Plan Review Thresholds to create 
new thresholds for commercial and multifamily street access permits, modify the threshold 
for new additions, and establish thresholds for proposals to create new residential dwelling 
units. 

5) Training on Site Development Standards 
a) Standard #6 – Screening & Standard #7 - Lighting 

6) Staff Updates 

7) New Business 

8) Upcoming Dates of Interest 
• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – December 8th, 6:30 PM 
• Planning Board Steering Committee – December 9th, 12:00 PM 
• Planning Board Site Visit – December 17th, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed 
• Planning Board Meeting –December 22nd, 6:30 PM 

B. MORE TIME ITEMS 

C. ADJOURNMENT 

1 of 32



DRAFT 

Page 1 of 20 

City of Keene 1 

New Hampshire 2 

3 

4 

PLANNING BOARD 5 

MEETING MINUTES 6 

7 

Monday, October 27, 2025 6:30 PM Council Chambers, 
City Hall 8 

Members Present: 
Harold Farrington, Chair 
Mayor Jay V. Kahn 
Councilor Michael Remy 
Sarah Vezzani 
Armando Rangel 
Ryan Clancy 
Kenneth Kost 
Michael Hoefer, Alternate 
Joseph Cocivera, Alternate 

Members Not Present: 
Roberta Mastrogiovanni, Vice Chair 
Tammy Adams, Alternate 
Stephon Mehu, Alternate 

Staff Present: 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
Evan Clements, Planner 
Megan Fortson, Planner 

9 

10 

I) Call to Order 11 

Chair Farrington called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and a roll call was taken. Michael 12 

Hoefer was invited to join the meeting as a voting member. 13 

14 

II) Minutes of Previous Meeting – September 26, 2025 & September 29, 2025 15 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy to approve the – September 26, 2025 & September 29, 16 
2025 meeting minutes. The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and was unanimously 17 
approved. 18 

19 

III) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 20 

The Chair stated this is a standing agenda item. As a matter of practice, the Board will now issue 21 
a final vote on all conditionally approved plans after all of the conditions precedent have been 22 
met.  This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 23 

24 
 Mari Brunner, Senior Planner, stated there were no applications ready for final approval. 25 

26 

IV) Extension Request 

2 of 32

27 



PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 2 of 20 

a) PB-2025-06 – Cottage Court Development, Surface Water Protection Conditional 28 
Use Permit, & Major Site Plan – Guitard Homes, 0 Court St – Applicant Fieldstone Land 29 
Consultants PLLC, on behalf of owner Guitard Homes LLC, requests a first extension to the 30 
deadline to satisfy the precedent conditions of approval for the proposed 29-unit single-family 31 
Cottage Court Development on the undeveloped lot at 0 Court St (TMP #228-016-000). The 32 
parcel is 9.7-ac in size and is located in the Low Density District. 33 

Mr. John Lefebvre of Fieldstone Land Consultants addressed the Board on behalf of the 34 

applicant and stated the applicant needs more time to put together the required items. 35 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board grant a first extension to the 36 
deadline to satisfy the precedent conditions of approval for PB-2025-06. The motion was 37 
seconded by Mayor Kahn and was unanimously approved. 38 

39 

b) PB-2024-14 – Cottage Court Conditional Use Permit, Hillside Protection Conditional 40 
Use Permit, & Major Site Plan – Timberlane Woods Development, 0 Drummer Rd – Owner 41 
Christopher Farris requests a second extension to satisfy the precedent conditions of approval for 42 
the proposed Cottage Court Development consisting of 6 buildings and a total of 36 units on the 43 
parcel at 0 Drummer Rd (TMP #515-015-000). A Hillside Protection Conditional Use Permit 44 
was requested for impacts to steep slopes. The parcel is ~13.1-ac in size and is located in the 45 
Low Density District. 46 

Ms. Vezzani was recused from this application. 47 

Mr. Kost asked for the reason for the extension. Ms. Brunner stated the reason for the extension 48 
request is because the applicant has not met their conditions precedent for final approval. She 49 
indicated the applicant submitted an extension request on Friday and Staff submitted an amended 50 
agenda packet the same day. On that same day, the applicant submitted a security estimate that 51 
was approved by Staff. There are still some outstanding items, including submittal of 52 
architectural elevations. 53 

54 
Mr. Hoefer clarified this was a second extension request and stated he is glad progress is being 55 
made. He asked what the process was for another extension request. Mr. Hoefer noted the 56 
applicant’s letter indicated project construction won’t be starting until the late spring of 2027. 57 

58 
Ms. Brunner stated applicants are allowed to request up to three extensions and the first 59 
extension is typically approved by the Board. However, a second extension request usually 60 
involves more questioning about the reasons as to why the project is being delayed. 61 
The third extension is really only supposed to be granted if there is a compelling reason. Ms. 62 
Brunner used COVID as an example of a time in which many applications needed extensions. 63 
Each extension request would provide a six-month extension to the timeframe to complete the 64 
conditions precedent, and it automatically gives an applicant a one-year extension to the time 65 
frame to achieve what is referred to as active and substantial development. Once an applicant 66 
gets their final approval, they have two years to start construction; otherwise, the applicant would 67 
have to comply with any changes the City might have adopted. She added the reason this project 68 
seems like it has been going on for a while is because it was originally proposed as a CRD 69 
Development and had three extensions on that application. 

3 of 32

70 



PB Meeting Minutes DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 3 of 20 

The Chair noted Mr. Farris’s letter to the Board indicates much of this delay is based on LIHTC 71 
schedule, which is the financing that he is using. 72 

73 
Mr. Kost noted this site has been disturbed quite a bit and asked whether there was any concern 74 
due to this extension. He asked whether the City would inspect for runoff or sediment issues. 75 
Ms. Brunner indicated the applicant did receive approval to cut down trees and noted the site is 76 
stable. The last time Staff visited the site was during the site visit for the Cottage Court 77 
development. The question of stability was raised then and the applicant’s response was that 78 
there are already saplings growing. The site is pretty much stabilized. 79 

80 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board grant a second six-month 81 
extension to satisfy the precedent conditions of approval for PB-2024-14. The motion was 82 
seconded by Mayor Kahn and was unanimously approved. 83 

Ms. Vezzani rejoined the Board. 84 

V) Boundary Line Adjustment 85 
a) PB-2025-19 – 35 & 39 Kendall Rd – Boundary Line Adjustment – Applicant 86 

Mrs. 87 
Ashley Fetchero, on behalf of owner Mr. & Mrs. John Fetchero and Mr. Charles Henry, proposes 88 
to transfer ~0.09-ac of land from the ~0.58-ac parcel at 35 Kendall Rd to the ~0.45-ac parcel at 89 
39 Kendall Rd (TMP#s 540-013-000 & 540-012-000). The parcels are both located in the Low 90 
Density District. 91 

92 
A. Board Determination of Completeness 93 

Evan Clements, Planner, stated the applicant has requested exemptions from submitting separate 94 
existing and proposed conditions plans and all technical reports. After reviewing each request, 95 
Planning Staff have made the preliminary determination that granting the requested exemptions 96 
would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the Board accept the 97 
application as complete. 98 

99 
A motion was made by Mayor Kahn to accept Application PB-2025-19 as complete. The motion 100 
was seconded by Councilor Remy and was unanimously approved. 101 

102 
B. Public Hearing 103 

Mr. John Lefebvre of Fieldstone Land Consultants stated that his firm was contacted by the 104 
applicant to stake out her property line so she could construct a fence. When this work was done 105 
it was realized that the property line was not where the applicant thought it was. As a result, a 106 
survey was completed so a lot line adjustment could be done. Mr. Lefebvre indicated by doing 107 
this adjustment, they are correcting a few things; for example, the driveway at the present time 108 
does not meet the requirements of a 10-foot setback and house at the corner is too close to the 109 
property line. By completing this lot line adjustment, both lots are being brought into conformity. 110 

111 
Staff comments were next. 112 
Mr. Clements stated the subject parcels are located on the south side of Kendall Road, 113 
approximately 100 feet from the intersection with Leahy Rd with Black Brook to the west and 114 
south of the properties. The property at 35 Kendall Rd is 0.58-ac in size with 100 feet of frontage 115 
and the property at 29 Kendall Road is 0.45-ac in size with 88 feet of frontage. 

4 of 32

116 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 4 of 20 

The purpose of the application is to complete a land swap between the two parcels and eliminate 117 
some minor nonconformities that exist on the properties. The proposed Boundary Line 118 
Adjustment would place the property line where both property owners had expected it to be 119 
located. He added there will be a small change of frontage with 39 Kendall Road getting around 120 
10 feet of frontage. 121 

122 
Mr. Clements added Staff do not believe that this application rises to the merit of regional impact 123 
and most of the subdivision regulations are not applicable in this application. Both sites are 124 
developed with single-family uses and there are no new proposed changes to either of the sites. 125 
Standards such as scattered and premature development, preservation of existing features, fire 126 
protection and water supply and utilities are not applicable. 127 

128 
Mr. Clements went on to say that it is worth noting that there is a small area in the southwestern 129 
corner of both parcels that is in the 100-year floodplain, which is shown on the boundary line 130 
adjustment plat. Because no development is proposed in that area, that standard has been met. 131 

132 
The Chair asked for public comment. 133 

134 
The Chair read a letter from one of the interested parties, Mr. Charles Henry: 135 
I support and request our boundary line adjustment. Historically, our father built two houses for 136 
his sons, along with his own house on three adjacent properties. 137 
However, the end of my driveway and mailbox are actually over the current property line for #39 138 
and my boundary line for #35 extends into approximately 1/3 of their backyard. 139 
As congenial neighbors, we are both in agreement to fix our property borders. 140 

141 
Councilor Remy agreed there was no regional impact and this was a straightforward application. 142 

143 
With no further comment, the Chair closed the public hearing. 144 

145 
A. Board Discussion and Action 146 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board approve PB-2025-19 as shown 147 
on the plan identified as “Lot Line Adjustment Plan” prepared by Fieldstone Land Consultants, 148 
PLLC at a scale of 1 inch = 20 feet dated August 25, 2025 with the following conditions 149 
precedent prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair:1. 150 
Owners’ signatures appear on the proposed BLA plan. 151 
2. Submittal of two (2) mylar copies, four full size copies and a PDF version of the final plans. 152 
3. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51 made out to the City of Keene to cover recording 153 
fees. 154 
4. Inspection of the lot monuments by the Public Works Director, or their designee, following 155 
their installation, or the submittal of a security in a form and amount acceptable to the Public 156 
Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be set. 157 

158 
The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and was unanimously approved. 159 

160 
VI)     Public Hearings 161 

a) PB-2025-20 – Major Site Plan – Solar Array – 0 Rose Lane – Applicant Rose Lane 162 
Solar LLC, on behalf of owner the City of Keene, proposes to construct a medium-scale ground 163 
mounted solar array on the parcel at 0 Rose Lane (TMP# 113-002-000). A waiver has been 

5 of 32

164 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 5 of 20 

requested from Section 21.6.2.C.3 of the Land Development Code related to the required 165 
screening for supplementary mechanical equipment. The parcel is ~13.2-ac in size and is located 166 
in the Industrial District. d) Amendments to the Planning Board Regulations: The Planning 167 
Board proposes to amend the site plan review thresholds in Section 26.12.3.A of the Land 168 
Development Code. The proposed changes include the creation of thresholds for commercial and 169 
multifamily street access permits, a modification to the threshold for new additions, and the 170 
creation of a threshold with regard to the number of new residential units proposed. 171 

Mr. Rangel recused himself from this application 172 

A. Board Determination of Completeness 173 
Megan Fortson, Planner, stated that the applicant has requested exemptions from submitting a 174 
grading plan, landscaping plan, lighting plan, and all technical reports. After reviewing each 175 
request, Planning Staff recommend that the Planning Board grant the requested exemptions and 176 
accept the application as complete 177 

A motion was made by Mayor Kahn to accept Application PB-2025-20 as complete. The motion 178 
was seconded by Councilor Remy and was unanimously approved. 179 

180 

B. Public Hearing 181 

Megan Ulin from Revision Energy addressed the Board and stated Revision Energy is the 182 
developer and will be constructing the project. The project will be owned by a local impact 183 
investor. She explained that the proposal is a medium scale solar energy system to be located at 184 
the former wastewater treatment site and will participate in the NH Low to Moderate Income 185 
Community Solar Program. Keene Housing and its residents will be the beneficiary of the 186 
project. During the life of the project, it is projected to deliver $100,000 worth of energy savings 187 
that Keene Housing will use for building improvements and to enhance resident services. 188 

The project is proposed to be located next to the activity and use restriction area of the former 189 
wastewater treatment plant, which is the capped area from where contaminated product was 190 
removed. The remediated portion of the site is where the solar array is proposed. This would be a 191 
ballasted ground-mounted array. All electrical runs will also be above ground. There is a small 192 
amount of utility equipment, which will be located on the southern edge of the site before it is 193 
connected into the existing grid infrastructure with one new utility pole. 194 

There is a six-foot chain link fence that exists on the site. The fence is going to be modified and 195 
extended to the west and north of the proposed solar development. 196 

Ms. Ulin noted this solar array is about 240 kW DC and produces around 253,000 kilowatt hours 197 
of clean energy annually. Construction is being planned for spring of 2026. The applicant has 198 
proposed a temporary construction entrance. The entrance that currently exists on the southwest 199 
corner of the site has an existing gate, and the fenceline will need to be modified to 200 
accommodate delivery trucks. The fenceline will be rebuilt to match the existing chain link fence 201 
along Rose Lane. 202 

203 
The applicant has submitted a waiver request of the landscaping plan and screening plan. Ms. 204 
Ulin stated this site is located in the industrial district. It is surrounded by other industrial 205 
properties and there is already vegetation on four sides. Rose Lane is part of the City of Keene 

6 of 32

206 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 6 of 20 

property and is not considered a public right-of-way. She noted this project has limited visibility 207 
from other abutting properties. 208 

With respect to construction, there will be silt soxx around the perimeter of the work area, 209 
tracked vehicles will be on the site, such as a skid steer, to minimize vegetation disruption. Any 210 
vegetated areas that are disturbed during construction will be re-vegetated and re-seeded. The 211 
solar array was specifically designed to remain on the portions of the site that are less than 5% 212 
slopes and will not result in an increase in stormwater runoff or change the drainage patterns of 213 
the site. 214 
The concluded Ms. Ulin’s presentation. 215 

Mr. Kost asked about fencing as it relates to larger animals getting through. Ms. Ulin stated the 216 
fence does not continue to the edge of the river, and there is about 30 to 50 feet of woodland area 217 
between the project’s fence line and the river. She indicated the fence will exclude deer from that 218 
project site. She stated the fence won’t prevent animals from accessing around the site and 219 
indicated the site isn’t an engineered surface. Ms. Ulin continued by stating she felt it would be 220 
Staff’s responsibility to keep this area free of wild animals. 221 

Chair Farrington asked how this system is categorized as a medium scale array. Ms. Ulin stated, 222 
based on the perimeter of the array of 23,000 square feet, the array falls under the medium 223 
category in the zoning ordinance. He asked what the lifetime of the project was. Ms. Ulin stated 224 
it was 25 years. The Chairman asked whether there would be impact of stormwater runoff on the 225 
solar array. Ms. Ulin stated the applicant was required to file an alteration of terrain permit for 226 
this project and added it was not because the project itself exceeded the threshold for 227 
disturbance, but because there had been land disturbance on the property in the past 10 years. 228 
The alteration of terrain permit rules exempts drainage analysis if your project is on a site with 229 
less than 5% slopes, if it is oriented less than 60° from contours, and if it meets a few other 230 
criteria. She stated the project did meet those criteria. It is not expected that stormwater would 231 
infiltrate this area, since this is a well-vegetated area. 232 

The Chair asked whether a solar panel is considered an impervious surface or is the grass under 233 
the array pervious. Ms. Brunner stated the way City of Keene regulations treat this is that the 234 
actual footing is impervious, but because the way the panels are designed, they allow water to 235 
infiltrate around their edges; they are not treated like a continuous impervious surface. For the 236 
impervious surface calculation, the applicant had to provide area of the footings and then there is 237 
a separate requirement for what is called the solar footprint, which was that perimeter that Ms. 238 
Ulin was describing, where they have to draw a line around the array and then there is a  separate 239 
calculation that they have to meet for that. 240 

Mr. Clancy asked whether the application for re-vegetation could be a wildflower mix instead of 241 
a grass mixture. Ms. Ulin stated they don’t expect much disturbance and added it would be 242 
difficult to grow wildflowers where there is already established grass. 243 

Staff comments were next. Ms. Fortson stated the subject parcel is 13.2 acres in size and is 244 
located about 700 feet north of the Swanzey town line. The land is largely undeveloped and has 245 
been remediated as it was the former wastewater treatment plant lagoon area. The western side of 246 
the site is a capped are where all of the materials were taken out of the former wastewater 247 
lagoon.  The eastern side of the site is a relatively flat area where the solar array is proposed to 248 
be installed. Rose Lane is actually a driveway and is not a public right of way. The property 249 
owners, towards the end of the road at 32 and 36 Rose Lane and 14 and 16 Rose Lane, have 250 
deeded access to be able to access their properties over the City’s land. 

7 of 32

251 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 7 of 20 

Ms. Fortson went on to say this system is considered a medium-scale solar array based on the 252 
calculation of that solar footprint. For an array to be considered a medium scale solar array, the 253 
footprint has to be somewhere between 2,000 square feet and one acre in size. This parcel is split 254 
zoned; specifically, Rose Lane that connects to Main Street is in the Low Density District and 255 
the rest of the site is in the Industrial Zone. The array will be located in the Industrial District 256 
area, which is an allowed use without the requirement of a conditional use permit. This project 257 
only requires site plan review. 258 

Staff has made the determination that the project does not have regional impact, but the Board 259 
will need to have this discussion. In terms of departmental comments, the Plans Examiner noted 260 
that a building permit application would be required and also noted that a floodplain 261 
development permit had already been issued. The City Engineer had some comments related to 262 
truck turning movements and the installation of temporary signage during the course of 263 
construction. At the time of the Staff report, Ms. Ulin and Mr. Ruoff, the City Engineer, were 264 
still going back and forth, trying to make sure that the truck turning movements were going to be 265 
acceptable and that the signage was going to be installed in the proper location for visibility. 266 
Those comments have since been addressed, so they are no longer of concern. 267 

Ms. Fortson next reviewed the application analysis. The site is relatively flat, and the City does 268 
not expect there to be any significant impacts from drainage. As was mentioned, the project does 269 
meet the threshold for the submittal of an Alteration of Terrain permit, hence planning Staff 270 
recommend the submittal of an approved a AOT permit be included as a condition of approval 271 
for the application. 272 

Sediment and erosion control: Silt soxx are going to largely be used around the perimeter of the 273 
site along with silt fencing to keep disturbance to a minimum. Due to the nature of the site and 274 
the fact that remediation has occurred, the City is trying to keep disturbance to a minimum. 275 
Hence, planning Staff recommend the condition of approval for the submittal of security to cover 276 
the cost of erosion control measures. 277 

Snow storage and removal: The project narrative states that the City currently clears and 278 
maintains site access, which is on the southwestern portion of the site adjacent to Rose Lane. 279 
Snow is not proposed to be removed from the array area, so that standard appears to be met. 280 

Landscaping: The only landscaping applicable is the grass seed mix that is proposed to be used 281 
to remediate any areas that are disturbed during construction, which will mostly be the stabilized 282 
construction entrance to the south of the array. Planning Staff recommends that this be included 283 
in the security that gets submitted. 284 

Screening: The applicant has requested a waiver from section 21.6.2.C 3 of the LDC, because the 285 
supplementary mechanical equipment, such as the emergency shutoff and the transformer, 286 
proposed to be installed is not going to visible from any public right of way or adjacent 287 
properties. The parcel that the equipment would be most visible from would be the Army 288 
Reserve Center, which is to southwest. She noted there is a tall berm that separates the two sites, 289 
and there is also a line of trees that are owned by the City, which should serve as screening in 290 
lieu of any type of fencing or other screening. The Board would need to deliberate this item and 291 
decide whether or not they feel comfortable granting a waiver, and Ms. Fortson noted to waiver 292 
criteria included on page 73. 293 

Lighting: There is no lighting proposed to be installed. 

8 of 32

294 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 8 of 20 

Water and Sewer: There will not be any impacts to water or sewer. 295 

Traffic and access management: The project narrative states that the array should only be 296 
accessed between two to four times a year for preventative and reactive maintenance concerns. 297 

Filling and Excavation: Not applicable. 298 

Surface Waters and Wetlands: The Branch River is located to the east of the property, but the 299 
proposed project area is going to be over 30 feet away and the 30-foot buffer is going to be 300 
maintained. 301 

Hazardous or toxic materials: There is not going to be any handling, storing or processing of any 302 
hazardous or toxic materials, other than what has already been remediated on the site. 303 

Noise: Minor noise would be generated by the solar inverter and transformer, but the noise 304 
would only be prevalent during the day. These conditions comply with the sound limit 305 
requirements in Article 18 of the LDC. 306 

Architectural and visual appearance: These standards are not applicable to this application, given 307 
the nature of the proposed work. 308 

This concluded Staff comments. 309 

Councilor Remy asked why the applicant would need a waiver because it seems like the site is 310 
screened on all four sides by vegetation. Ms. Fortson stated this is something Staff had discussed 311 
and did reach out to the applicant. The applicant requested the waiver to make sure there were no 312 
issues raised on this item because the supplementary mechanical equipment close to the fence 313 
line might be visible from the Septic Pro property or the Asphalt Plant. 314 

Ms. Vezzani asked whether Staff had any comments on the letter that was received. Ms. Fortson 315 
stated Staff reached out to the Public Works Director who was able to provide some additional 316 
history of the connection of the three sites: Granite City, Davis Oil and the City owned parcel. In 317 
2018, when the wastewater treatment plant was being capped and remediated, there were some 318 
discussions about potentially installing additional drainage infrastructure. Public Works has been 319 
working with the adjacent property owners to find a solution to drainage issues, which are still 320 
outstanding and are not something the Board would need to consider as part of this application. 321 
The drainage concerns are not applicable to this scope of work. However, City Staff would be 322 
happy to help coordinate a meeting between City Staff and these property owners, if they wished 323 
to continue discussions related to the drainage conditions. 324 

Ms. Brunner added that the Public Works Director reviewed this plan and confirmed that the 325 
proposed development that is being considered is not expected to have any sort of impact as it 326 
slopes away from the property and there will be no runoff from the solar development. The City 327 
is aware of the ongoing issue. 328 

Chair Farrington asked for Staff comment on construction traffic. Ms. Fortson stated the 329 
applicant has provided feedback to the concerns raised by the City Engineer and has provided an 330 
updated truck turning exhibit showing trucks turning in and out of the construction area. The 331 
temporary construction signage has also been addressed by the applicant. 332 

Councilor Remy noted to the letter from the abutter and indicated that he has never heard of a 333 
comprehensive fire safety analysis in the scope of the Board’s work and asked for Staff comment 334 
on this. 

9 of 32

335 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 9 of 20 

Ms. Brunner stated she reached out to the Fire Marshall regarding this analysis and he was not 336 
opposed to the idea. When the application was initially reviewed, Staff did not feel the solar 337 
array needed that type of study. However, given the fact that it is immediately adjacent to a 338 
propane storage area, it could impact the fire assessment for that use. 339 

The Fire Marshall’s response is as follows: “If the roles were reversed and the propane 340 
installation was going in, they would be required to do a fire safety analysis so it does make 341 
sense as this new abutting installation could affect the validity of the adjacent properties current 342 
fire safety analysis. I think it is a prudent assessment.” 343 

Councilor Remy stated he did now know how to review a fire safety analysis. He continued by 344 
asking for clarification regardig if this requirement were added as a condition precedent, could 345 
the Fire Marshall come back with a satisfactory response on it. Ms. Brunner suggested this 346 
question be raised with the applicant as she wasn’t sure what time frame would go into getting a 347 
study like that completed or what the cost would be. Ms. Brunner felt it would make sense for 348 
the Fire Marshall to review this. 349 

Councilor Remy asked Ms. Ulin, in an effort not to hold up the approval tonight, if this analysis 350 
needs to be reviewed by the Fire Marshall prior to final approval, whether this was something 351 
she would agree to. Ms. Ulin stated she was not familiar with a fire safety analysis and noted that 352 
solar projects are designed and constructed to meet NFPA code. She added fire risk from a solar 353 
array is very small. Councilor Remy stated the concern is that electrical infrastructure is 354 
proposed right next to a propane storage facility. Ms. Ulin stated this is a complex project and 355 
any additional costs are going to be difficult, but she would want to address any safety concerns. 356 
She added they would like to have a conversation with the Fire Marshall before agreeing to 357 
anything. Ms. Brunner stated, based on what Ms. Ulin just communicated, perhaps this could be 358 
added as a condition “prior to issuance of a building permit.” 359 

Mr. Clancy stated for large scale arrays, there is usually a decommission plan, but because this is 360 
City property, he asked if the City has given any thought into what happens at the end of the 25-361 
year lease. Ms. Ulin stated the lease agreement between the City and the project owner would 362 
include that the project owner is to remove the array at the end of its life and to cover those costs. 363 

The Chair asked for public comment. 364 

Mr. Steve Walsh, owner of Davis Oil Company, addressed the Board and called the Board’s 365 
attention to his letter, which was included in the Board’s packet. He stated his first concern is the 366 
stormwater issue that has been going on for many years. He indicated in 2018, he was advised 367 
that the capping of the plateau at 0 Rose Lane was not going to impact the Davis Oil property. 368 
However, the capping did impact the property, and he referred to pictures the Board was sent. 369 
Mr. Walsh stated that during any rainstorm, water gets diverted towards their property instead of 370 
down the hill to the location that the solar panels are going to be installed. He added he is not 371 
opposed to solar panels, but what he is asking for is the relief they have been promised for the 372 
past 15 years, which they have not been provided yet. He noted 0 Rose Lane holds a very small 373 
piece of property for some drainage to be directed to relieve 14 Rose Lane. This is what they are 374 
asking for, and they are not asking to shut down the solar panel project. 375 

Mr. Walsh stated the second item is the fire safety analysis question. He stated that when Davis 376 
Oil added propane two years ago, they were required to complete a fire safety analysis, which 377 
included identifying emergency response protocols if there was an event with the propane 378 
system. This was completed and it was part of their conditions of approval. Mr. Walsh stated 

10 of 32

379 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 10 of 20 

what he is requesting is an analysis of how adding the solar panels would affect their propane 380 
plant, which could be a source of ignition. He added he does not want this to be too costly to the 381 
applicant but also wants to make sure that they are able to continue to buy insurance for the 382 
business that they are in. He stressed that he was not against the project. 383 

Ms. Vezzani asked how much a fire safety analysis would cost. Mr. Walsh felt it would be less 384 
than what he paid and felt the applicant’s analysis would be less as the basic analysis has already 385 
been completed. He recalled paying around $5,000 for this work. Mr. Walsh stated the applicant 386 
was welcome to use the analysis he completed and could add to it. 387 

Mayor Kahn stated to Staff that the City needs to address the runoff issue on a separate track but 388 
wasn’t sure how to address the fire analysis issue. Ms. Brunner stated Staff would recommend 389 
that any conditions for the project are related to impacts of the project. However, Ms. Brunner 390 
continued by stating she felt it was very important for the City to work with the property owners 391 
to address the drainage issues. One of the things that came to the attention of Staff through this 392 
application is that one of the properties that is contributing to the drainage issue is in violation of 393 
their site plan. She stated Staff would be following up with that item. She added the Public 394 
Works Director had come up with a couple of potential solutions and the barrier at the time was 395 
that they were not able to secure permission from the property owners to get the easements 396 
required to make those improvements. There are two private property owners, and the City 397 
would have to be involved in the solution. Ms. Brunner added, now that the issue is on Staff’s 398 
radar, they will make sure to follow up on it. 399 

Mr. Walsh stated he agrees the original intent was to have three property owners contribute to 400 
this, but noted that his property has direct connection between 14 Rose Lane and 0 Rose Lane 401 
and does not have to connect with 16 Rose Lane; the hope was for shared cost from 16 Rose 402 
Lane but did not believe that was accurate. The Chair felt this was not the arena to be negotiating 403 
that issue. Mr. Walsh felt the City does own this property and they will be leasing it to a private 404 
entity. 405 

Mr. Peter Hansel of 61 Bradford Road, Keene addressed the Board and stated he was here to 406 
offer support for this project. He stated when he was on the Energy and Climate Committee for 407 
six years, one of the things they worked on was looking for sites that could accommodate solar 408 
arrays. They came up with three sites: the airport, Cedar Crest and this site at Rose Lane. He felt 409 
the timing is critical as certain incentives run out at the end of this year and felt the project needs 410 
to be moved forward. 411 

With no further comments the Chair closed the public hearing. 412 

Councilor Remy agreed there was no regional impact. 413 

414 

C. Board Discussion and Action 415 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board approve PB-2025-20 as shown 416 
on the plan set identified as “Revision Energy, Rose Lane Solar Site Development, Keene, New 417 
Hampshire” prepared by Horizons Engineering at a scale of 1 inch = 60 feet in January 2025 and 418 
last revised on October 10, 2025 with the following conditions: 419 

1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the following 420 

conditions precedent shall be met: 

11 of 32

421 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 11 of 20 

422 

A. Owner’s signature appears on the title page and proposed conditions plans. 423 

B. Submittal of five (5) paper copies and a PDF copy of the final plan set. 424 

C. Submittal of an updated proposed conditions plan stamped by a Wetlands Scientist licensed in 425 

the State of NH. 426 

D. Submittal of a security to cover the cost of sediment and erosion control measures, 427 

revegetation of the site following construction, and as-built plans in a form and amount 428 

acceptable to the Community Development Director. 429 

E. Submittal of an approved Alteration of Terrain Permit number from the New Hampshire 430 

Department of Environmental Services. 431 

432 

2. Subsequent to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the 433 

following conditions shall be met: 434 

435 

A. Prior to the commencement of site work, erosion control measures shall be installed and 436 

inspected by the Community Development Director, or their designee, for compliance with the 437 

approved plan and all City of Keene regulations. 438 

B. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, review and determination by the City Fire Marshall 439 

as to whether a fire safety analysis is required. 440 

441 

The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn. 442 

Councilor Remy stated he did not include anything regarding the stormwater issue raised by the 443 
abutter at 14 Rose Lane as he felt it was not appropriate to include that issue with this 444 
application. He added as City Councilor he will make sure this item is addressed and did not feel 445 
it was appropriate that issue has gone on this long. 446 

Ms. Vezzani stated agreement with what Councilor Remy stated regarding regional impact and 447 
the fire safety analysis and was ready to move forward. 448 

The motion made by Councilor Remy carried on a unanimous vote. 449 

The Mayor asked to be recused from the rest of the meeting. 450 

451 

b) Request to Revoke PB-2024-08 – Cottage Court Conditional Use Permit 452 
Townhomes, 15 Colony Ct - Per NH RSA 676:4-a, applicant and owner POMAH LLC, 453 
proposes to revoke the Planning Board approval of a Cottage Court CUP, PB-2024-08, to 454 
construct a two-unit building on the parcel at 15 Colony Ct (TMP# 535-012-000) as the two units 455 
are now allowed by right. The parcel is 0.18-ac in size and is located in the Medium Density 456 
District. 457 

The Chair asked whether or not the Board was required to determine completeness for this item. 458 

Evan Clements, Planner, addressed the Board and stated this is more of an administrative and 459 
enforcement request, rather than a normal application. It is a land use approval that has been 460 
approved by the Planning Board, which is now being stripped from the record of the property. 461 
Hence, there is no real application or completeness attached to this item. Mr. Clements stated 

12 of 32

462 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 12 of 20 

there is no need to conduct a completeness determination. As per RSA 676, the Board may hold 463 
a project accountable if it is not in compliance with their site plan. 464 

465 
However, there are very rare cases, such as what is before the Board this evening, in which the 466 
zoning regulations have changed. Therefore, what is actively developed on this site is now 467 
allowed without any special approvals. To keep this project under the Cottage Court Conditional 468 
Use Permit actually puts restrictions on the property with no benefit for the property owner. 469 

470 
Mr. Clements added if this item had been conditionally approved but not finally approved, the 471 
property owner could have withdrawn the application. Because that this project has been granted 472 
final approval and development is underway, what is before the Board is the most appropriate 473 
process. If the Board votes to revoke the application, that decision will be recorded, so that in the 474 
chain of title with the property, there is some history for future property owners. 475 

476 
Mr. Rick Lewis, project manager, stated Mr. Clements has addressed this item, but he was 477 
present should the Board have any questions for him. He added he was in support of this request. 478 

479 
The Chair asked for public comment, and with no comment from the public, the Chair closed the 480 
public hearing. 481 

482 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board, in accordance with New 483 
Hampshire RSA 676-4, revoke conditional use permit PB 2024-08 for a cottage court 484 
development on a property located at 15 Colony Court. 485 

486 
The motion was seconded by Armando Rangel and was unanimously approved. 487 

488 
Councilor Remy indicated now that the Mayor has left the session perhaps an alternate could be 489 
brought in to take his place as a voting member. Ms. Brunner stated that she learned that none of 490 
the ex-officio positions could be filled by an Alternate (Mayor and City Council). She indicated 491 
for the future, perhaps the Board could ask Council to designate specific Alternates to fill those 492 
spots. 493 

494 
495 
496 
497 
498 
499 
500 
501 
502 
503 
504 
505 
506 

c) PB-2025-17 – 5-Lot Subdivision – Markem Image, 150 Congress St – 507 
Applicant Fieldstone Land Consultants PLLC, on behalf of owner Markem-Imaje Corporation, 508 
The full agenda packet can be found on the Planning Board webpage at: keenenh.gov/planning-509 
board. proposes to subdivide the existing ~31-ac parcel at 150 Congress St (TMP #598-002- 

13 of 32

510 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 13 of 20 

000) into five lots that will be ~0.17-ac, ~3.52-ac, ~4.08-ac, ~6.40-ac, and ~17.69-ac in size. The 511 
parcel is located in both the Industrial Park & Conservation Districts. 512 

513 
A. Board Determination of Completeness 514 

Ms. Fortson stated that the applicant has submitted requests for exemptions from submitting 515 
separate existing and proposed subdivision plans and all technical reports. After reviewing these 516 
requests, Planning Staff recommend that the Board grant the requested waivers and accept the 517 
application as complete. 518 

519 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy to accept this Application as complete. The motion was 520 
seconded by Armando Rangel and was unanimously approved. 521 

522 
B. Public Hearing 523 

Mr. John Lefebvre of Fieldstone Land Consultants, representing Markem Image, addressed the 524 
Board. He stated this is an item that has been before the Board in the past. He explained that the 525 
applicant has a lot of space they are not using.  Two years ago, a woman who wanted to put in a 526 
bakery approached them, but those plans fell through due to not being able to meet subdivision 527 
and zoning requirements. He noted these are buildings that were created pre-zoning and are 528 
difficult to subdivide. 529 

530 
Mr. Lefebvre stated his client has a subdivision concept, which creates the least amount of 531 
necessary variances. They brought that proposal to the Zoning Board of Adjustment and obtained 532 
the required variances to be able to come before the Planning Board for a subdivision plan. 533 

534 
He noted that on the property, there is a building occupied by the Amalgamated Squash, 535 
Chowder, & Development Corporation. The building is a racquet club and a very unique 536 
property for which they have a lease agreement. Mr. Lefebvre stated three of the variances were 537 
unique to the circumstances of giving this use a permanent residence. The other variances were 538 
relative to parking; specifically, the variances were for not being able to meet the size 539 
requirements for the zone of four acres and the third was for building set back. 540 

541 
Mr. Lefebvre indicated the buildings have their own meters for utilities. 542 
There are no changes in proposed development. There is plenty of parking. The landscape in 543 
place will remain.  This concluded his presentation. 544 

545 
Councilor Remy asked for an explanation on what lot 4 entails. Mr. Lefebvre stated when they 546 
came up with this concept, they had a smaller area as lot 4. When they went before the Zoning 547 
Board for the variances, Mr. Lefebvre stated he had missed this issue. They noticed they needed 548 
a larger area for lot 4 to accommodate the zoning division line. He noted the extra area could be 549 
used for drainage or to accommodate a maintenance building 550 

551 
Mr. Kost asked whether all lots would have access or whether there would be easements 552 
provided for access. Mr. Lefebvre stated they have some easements on the plan. He referred to 553 
lot 2, in which there is an easement from Optical Avenue to the middle lot to access the loading 554 
docks. 555 

556 
There is also an easement along lot 4. For the rest of the property, the applicant is proposing a 557 
cross easement in the form of a legal declaration in which existing utilities would be allowed to 

14 of 32

558 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 14 of 20 

remain. Mr. Kost noted to the close proximity of lot 3 and 4 and asked if one of those lots gets 559 
sold, whether this could be an issue. Mr. Lefebvre stated one of those square structures is a utility 560 
structure and the applicant has a variance for the close proximity. 561 

562 
Staff comments were next.  Ms. Fortson stated the parent parcel is 31 acres in size and is 563 
proposed to be divided into five different lots of varying sizes. As Mr. Lefebvre indicated lot #4 564 
was made larger, and all the other parcels were made slightly smaller in response to that. A total 565 
of six variances were granted by the Zoning Board related to setbacks, substandard lot sizes, 566 
parking lot, pavement setbacks and the permitted use of the squash court. 567 

568 
Ms. Fortson stated that after reviewing the application, Staff do not feel that there is the potential 569 
for regional impact. Departmental comments included the City Engineer’s comments related to 570 
water and sewer services and having separate shutoffs for each of those for the buildings. Each 571 
building currently has its own water and sewer hookup. If there were to be any change of use in 572 
any of those buildings in the future, those utilities would have to be reviewed by the engineering 573 
department to ensure that there would be sufficient sewer and water capacity available for 574 
whatever that proposed use was going to be. 575 

576 
Ms. Fortson next reviewed the subdivision regulations. Specifially, Ms. Fortson discussed the lot 577 
sizes, the zoning relief and the proposal’s compliance with zoning. For lot 1, a variance for a 578 
substandard lot size was granted because there is only 3.5 acres proposed where four acres is 579 
required in industrial park. For lot 2, a variance was granted for reduced side setbacks. The other 580 
four variances were related to reduced pavement setbacks, substandard lot sizes, reduced rear 581 
setbacks, and the use variance for the squash court. 582 

583 
Ms. Fortson discussed the character of the land for a subdivision. This standard, along with the 584 
standards for scattered or premature development and preservation of existing features, are not 585 
applicable to the application as this site is already developed. 586 

587 
For monumentation, the applicant has stated that if and when the application is conditionally 588 
approved, they will move forward with installing the new lot monuments. The lot monuments 589 
will then be inspected by the Public Works Director or their designee. Planning Staff are 590 
recommending that a lot monument inspection be made a condition of approval. 591 

592 
With respect to special flood hazard areas, a portion of lot 4 has a special flood hazard area 593 
indicated. Planning Staff recommend the plan be updated to include a note that any future 594 
development on that site be done in compliance with the applicable floodplain regulations. 595 

596 
Fire Protection, Water Supply and Utilities – Ms. Fortson stated these items have already been 597 
addressed that those items would be reviewed in the future if there is any change of use that takes 598 
place. 599 

600 
Site Development Standards – The only applicable standards are traffic and access management, 601 
and this comes into play because there are a few access easements that are proposed. 602 
There is one easement on lot 2 and 3, for access to Optical Avenue. Another easement is 603 
proposed across lot 4 that would allow for access onto lot 3. Planning Staff are recommend two 604 
conditions of approval: one related to submittal of draft easement language to be reviewed by the 605 
City Attorney, and one related to the submittal of the recorded easements once they are in place. 

15 of 32

606 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 15 of 20 

607 
The only other site development standard that is applicable is related to surface waters and 608 
wetlands. A portion of lot 4 is in a special flood hazard area, which does have some wetlands on 609 
it. The applicant will need to maintain a 30-foot surface water set back in the future if there is 610 
any development that happens on that lot. There is a note on the plan relative to this. This 611 
standard has been met. 612 

613 
Ms. Fortson referred to language in the recommended motion. This concluded Staff comments. 614 

615 
The Chair asked for public comment. With no comments from the public, the Chair closed the 616 
public hearing. 617 

618 
C. Board Discussion and Action 619 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board approve PB-2025-17 as shown 620 
on the plan set identified as, ‘Subdivision Plan, Tax Map 598 Lot 2, (150 Congress St), Keene, 621 
New Hampshire’ prepared by Fieldstone Land Consultants at varying scales on August 22, 2025 622 
and last revised on October 20, 2025 with the following conditions: 623 

624 
625 

1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the following 626 
conditions precedent shall be met: 627 
A. Owner’s signature appears on all sheets of the final plan set. 628 
B. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a PDF version of the 629 
final plan set. 630 
C. Submittal of a check in the amount of $255 made out to the City of Keene to cover the cost of 631 
recording fees. 632 
D. Submittal of an updated proposed conditions plan (Sheet SB-1) showing the following: 633 

i. All zoning applications submitted and the decisions rendered. 634 
ii. Note #5 shall be updated to state that any future development within the special flood 635 
hazard area will need to comply with all applicable local, federal, and state regulations 636 
and may require the submittal of a Floodplain Development Permit to the Community 637 
Development Department. 638 

E. Submittal of draft easement language to the Community Development Department for review 639 
by the City Attorney. 640 
F. Installation and inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee, 641 
or in lieu of this, the submittal of a security to cover the cost of the installation of these 642 
monuments. 643 

644 
2. Subsequent to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following 645 
condition shall be met: 646 
A. Submittal of recorded easement agreements to the Community Development Department to 647 
be saved in the project file. 648 

649 
The motion was seconded by Armando Rangel. 650 

651 
Councilor Remy stated he agrees there is no regional impact and is in favor of approving this 652 
plan. 653 

654 

16 of 32



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 16 of 20 

Chair Farrington felt freeing up land is a good thing for Keene. 655 
656 

Ms. Vezzani commended the applicant for coming up with creative ways to use these vacant 657 
buildings. 658 

659 
The motion made by Councilor Remy was unanimously approved. 660 

661 
662 

d) Amendments to the Planning Board Regulations: The Planning Board proposes to amend 663 
the site plan review thresholds in Section 26.12.3.A of the Land Development Code. The 664 
proposed changes include the creation of thresholds for commercial and multifamily street access 665 
permits, a modification to the threshold for new additions, and the creation of a threshold with 666 
regard to the number of new residential units proposed. 667 

668 
Ms. Brunner stated the authority for site plan review comes from State Statute, NH RSA 674-43, 669 
which allows the Planning Board to review site plans for non-residential and multifamily uses. 670 
This statute also gives the legislative body the ability to allow the Planning Board to delegate its 671 
authority; specifically, the Planning Board can delegate its powers and duties for site plan review 672 
to a committee of qualified administrators. In the City of Keene, the Board has delegated the 673 
authority for minor site plan review to the Minor Project Review Committee. 674 

675 
Ms. Brunner stated what is being discussed today are the thresholds that separate minor site plans 676 
from major site plans. Anything that does not fall into the category of site plan review would be 677 
under a third category referred to as administrative planning review, which is essentially a Staff 678 
review with no public hearing. 679 

680 
Ms. Brunner went on to say that the main goal of these proposed changes are to increase the 681 
utility of the Minor Project Review Committee. This Committee is relatively new. It was created 682 
in 2021, and since it was created, there have been only a few projects that have gone to that 683 
Committee. Staff feel the reason for this is that the breadth of projects that can go to Minor 684 
Project Review Committee is just too narrow. She stated what is before the Board is trying to 685 
widen that breadth to increase the number of projects that could go to the Minor Project Review 686 
Committee. She added applicants appreciate this process as it helps shorten the timeframe, it 687 
helps speed things up, it takes the unknowns out of the process. However, it does still require the 688 
same noticing that major site plans require, such as the 10-day posted notice in the paper, notice 689 
to abutters and scheduling of a public hearing. 690 

691 
Another goal of these proposed changes is to address specific projects that create new residential 692 
units; this topic came up with one of the administrative projects that Staff approved in the 693 
previous year. 694 

695 
Another goal is to address street access or driveways. 696 
Street access permits, at the present time, require site plan review if commercial or multifamily 697 
access is being modified even if it is to remove it. This board has delegated its authority with 698 
respect to single family and two-family street access to the City Engineer. However, the same 699 
has not been done with commercial and multi-family street access. Hence, what Staff is 700 
proposing is that anytime a street access or driveway is proposed to be narrowed or removed, and 701 
it complies with all standards, that this be something that is reviewed administratively. However, 

17 of 32

702 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 17 of 20 

if it is a new commercial street access or if it is being modified but it is complying with all the 703 
driveway standards in Article 23 of Land Development Code, it can the reviewed by the Minor 704 
Project Review Committee. If it is a proposal that involves an exception to the criteria that would 705 
raise it up to the level of major site plan review. Ms. Brunner noted this builds in an incentive 706 
structure for people to comply with the street access standards. 707 

708 
Councilor Remy noted it looks like any residential property outside of the downtown district 709 
would not be subject to anything more than residential review for an expansion of existing use if 710 
it does not add units. He clarified if someone wanted to double the size of their house, it doesn't 711 
trigger anything more than administrative review unless it is more than 10,000 square feet. 712 

713 
Ms. Brunner stated she will be addressing this issue with her proposed changes. 714 

715 
The first change is in Section A of 26-12-3 Applicability: 716 
First paragraph (bottom) This type of review shall not be required for single family and two-717 
family dwellings or their associated accessory uses, provided such dwellings are not attached to 718 
a mixed-use building or located on a mixed-use lot containing non-residential uses. 719 
Ms. Brunner stated when it is referred to as non-residential this means multifamily as well. 720 
If a lot has a multifamily use on it, that would be considered a mixed-use lot. 721 

722 
Under major site plan, one of the items added: 723 
Exceeds any of the below thresholds, would go before the Planning Board. 724 

725 
1B refers to what Councilor Remy raised – Ms. Brunner stated one of the items of feedback from 726 
two of the Planning Board members is that the downtown is of more interest to them than areas 727 
outside the downtown. Changes in the downtown might have a lower threshold than changes 728 
outside the downtown for review. In response, the language was changed as follows: Any 729 
additions to an existing building or structure that is greater than 15% of the gross floor area of 730 
the existing principal building. Outside of the downtown district that number goes up to 25%. 731 
Ms. Brunner stated, for example, when you get to the industrial districts where you have these 732 
massive building it is easy to meet that threshold. Trying to increase that middle band where 733 
projects can go to the Minor Project Review Committee is the goal of this change. 734 

735 
Item C  – Projects that involve the creation of 25 or more new residential dwelling units in one 736 
year – Ms. Brunner stated five board members emailed Staff suggesting having a higher 737 
threshold than a lower one. She indicated any of these thresholds that are met would send a 738 
project to the Planning Board for major site plan review. This could involve things like the 739 
interior conversion of an existing commercial building to residential units. There might be very 740 
little impact to the surrounding area or to the site. Ms. Brunner stated she erred on the side of 741 
making the threshold higher. 742 
Councilor Remy felt having the word commercial in Item B means that it does not apply to 743 
residential regardless of multifamily. If a multifamily was to be expanded to make all the units 744 
twice the size, it would not trigger a review. Ms. Brunner agreed that the word “commercial” 745 
should be deleted from Items 1B and 2B. 746 

747 
Mr. Hoefer suggested a new bullet point C to separate them. 748 
Ms. Brunner asked if the Board was in agreement to deleting the word “commercial” 749 
Ms. Vezzani suggested adding another bullet point. 

18 of 32

750 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 18 of 20 

751 
Ms.  Brunner asked if anyone was opposed to removing the word commercial so that the 752 
threshold for additions outside of the zoning districts would apply multifamily residential in 753 
addition to commercial. Mr. Kost clarified this would be for any building downtown. Ms. 754 
Brunner answered in the affirmative.  Mr. Kost asked for the difference between a building and a 755 
structure. Ms. Brunner stated for purposes of this section, it has to be an increase in gross floor 756 
area as compared to the principal building on the lot; all buildings are structures. Mr. Kost asked 757 
whether the term structure was necessary. Mr. Clements stated it was necessary and added 758 
the City has had its ordinance argued for semantic reasons that have provided for dramatic re-759 
interpretations of how the code is read. He added frequently buildings and/or structures are 760 
indicated throughout the LDC and it is Staff’s preference that we continue to do so. 761 

762 
Councilor Remy added for multifamily units outside the downtown districts, there is no 763 
regulation currently addressing those properties because it is phrased as commercial today. In the 764 
new language, it says commercial properties, a residential or multifamily property would not fall 765 
under that and therefore there is no escalation clause for a residential property outside the 766 
downtown district. These changes would remove the current restriction on residential properties 767 
out the downtown. 768 

769 
Councilor Remy suggested removing the word commercial and then it applies outside of the 770 
downtown districts it would apply to multifamily and commercial, would fall under the same 771 
rules as opposed to highlighting commercial for that and having no call out for multifamily. 772 

773 
Ms. Brunner stated the more she thinks about this, she felt the inclusion of the word 774 
“commercial” was an accident. Ms. Brunner recommended removing the word “commercial,” so 775 
it is consistent how different uses are treated in the City. The Chair stated he was in agreement. 776 
Ms. Brunner stated the change she proposes is to split Item B into two and add a subsection “i” 777 
for downtown districts, and then a subsection “ii” for all other districts and split that into 778 
basically two sentences. 779 

780 
Ms. Brunner asked for feedback on the threshold for “25 or more new residential dwelling 781 
units.” Mr. Hoefer clarified anything less than 25 units will be handled by the Minor Project 782 
Review Committee. Staff agreed. 783 
Councilor Remy clarified everything above 10 units would require noticing of the neighbors, but 784 
it would go before the Minor Project Review Committee. Ms. Brunner answered in the 785 
affirmative. 786 

787 
The next change was with respect to commercial multi-family street access where an exception is 788 
requested from the street access permit criteria in Article 23. The Board had no comment on this 789 
item 790 

791 
Next Change –  Minor Site Plan Criteria – adding the phrase any of those thresholds that are met 792 
would be sent to the Minor Project Review Committee. Ms. Brunner stated here, again, she could 793 
split this out into two subsections: “i” and “ii.” Then, she stated the word “commercial” would be 794 
removed from that second-half of the sentence. 795 
This states that additions to existing buildings or structures that are between 10% and 15% of 796 
the gross floor area of the existing principal building in the downtown would go to Minor Project 

19 of 32

797 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 19 of 20 

Review Committee outside of the downtown it is between 15% and 25% would go to Minor 798 
Project Review Committee. 799 

800 
Mr. Kost felt on Main Street uses that are 4,900 square feet or higher should go through major 801 
site plan review. 802 
Ms. Brunner noted downtown has the form-based code and it has the Historic District. After the 803 
form-based code was adopted, new construction in the Historic District does not go to the 804 
Historic District Commission. If there is new construction currently in the downtown area that is 805 
less than 5,000 square feet, the City would rely on one of the thresholds and send it to the 806 
Planning Board for review. 807 

808 
Ms. Vezzani stated she was one of the five members who asked for larger numbers and the 809 
reason for that is because there are items that would require major site plan review but agreed the 810 
City should try and keep with other communities in New Hampshire. 811 

812 
Chair Farrington asked Staff what they would be looking for from the Board today. Ms. Brunner 813 
stated if the Board was not ready to adopt this tonight, Staff could take feedback and bring back 814 
another version for next month. She stated the one piece she would like to hear from the rest of 815 
the Board on Mr. Kost’s point about the downtown; threshold 1A – Mr. Kost would like that 816 
number to be lower for the downtown. She asked if the Board feels the other thresholds provide 817 
enough of a safety net or would you like to see sort of a bifurcation of that, similar to what we 818 
are doing for Item B. 819 

820 
Councilor Remy stated he is fine with it being where it is right now and understands where Ms. 821 
Vezzani is coming from.  Based on how specific form-based code is and how much work was 822 
put into that and the entire intent of going to a form-based code was to limit the number of 823 
meetings an applicant had to attend. As long as they met the intent the project could be approved. 824 
He felt the depth in form-based code covers the concerns of the Board. Mr. Kost stated if the 825 
form-based code does exactly what Councilor Remy is saying. He will be fine with that. 826 

827 
The Chair felt it would be good to continue this item until next month. 828 

829 
The next change addressed by Ms. Brunner was in reference to minor site plans for residential 830 
new residential units, specifically 10 to 24 units. Ms. Brunner stated the reason for the 10 is 831 
because it is at 10 residential units that the City requires a traffic analysis and would go before 832 
the Minor Project Review Committee. However, alternatively, the threshold could be raised, and 833 
it could be 15 to 24 units. She indicated the ten units would work and it depends on the area of 834 
the City. 835 

836 
The next item under Minor Project is for new street access or request to widen existing 837 
commercial or multi-family street access. 838 

839 
For example, if someone wanted to completely remove a street access or narrow their street 840 
access, they would not even have to go to Minor Site Plan Review. This is a change that could be 841 
reviewed administratively. Ms. Brunner stated because this would allow for a Staff review and 842 
she added the following language under administrative planning review “proposed modifications 843 
to commercial or multi-family street access that do not meet the threshold for minor major site 844 
plan review shall be referred to the City Engineer for review prior to issuing a decision. This is 

20 of 32

845 



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 27, 2025 

Page 20 of 20 

to make sure that the City Engineer is reviewing any applications that would be approved by the 846 
Community Development Director or their designee. 847 

848 
7) Staff Updates 849 

Ms. Brunner stated Staff will be bringing forward a running list of updates Staff have. Many of 850 
these are clean-up items. Some of these changes have to do with State law. For example, the 851 
State legislature increased the time frame for active and substantial development. It used to be 852 
two years, and it has changed to three years. The substantial completion increased from five 853 
years to seven years. Staff are updating the code to reflect those changes. 854 

8) New Business 855 

The Chair stated his house has been volunteered for a holiday party but wasn’t sure if this is 856 
something that could be permitted. Ms. Brunner stated it is as long as those who attend don’t 857 
discuss business, it is permitted. 858 

9) Upcoming Dates of Interest 859 

• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – November 10th, 6:30 PM 860 
• Planning Board Steering Committee – November 10th, 12:00 PM 861 
• Planning Board Site Visit – November 19th, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed 862 
• Planning Board Meeting –November 24th, 6:30 PM 863 

864 

B. MORE TIME ITEMS 865 

1. Training on Site Development Standards – Screening 866 

867 
There being no further business, Chair Farrington adjourned the meeting at 9:15 PM. 868 

869 
Respectfully submitted by, 870 
Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 871 

872 
Reviewed and edited by, 873 
Emily Duseau, Planning Technician 

21 of 32

874 



3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov 

MEMORANDUM 

TO:   Planning Board 

FROM:   Community Development Staff 

DATE:   November 14, 2025 

SUBJECT: Agenda Item III - Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 

Recommendation: 

To grant final approval for any projects that have met all their “conditions precedent to final 
approval.” 

Background: 

This is a standing agenda item in response to the “George Stergiou v. City of Dover” opinion issued 
by the NH Supreme Court on July 21, 2022. As a matter of practice, the Planning Board issues a 
final vote on all conditionally approved projects after the “conditions precedent to final approval” 
have been met. This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 

As of the date of this packet, there are no applications ready for final approval. 

If any projects meet their conditions precedent between date of this packet and the meeting, they 
will be identified and discussed during this agenda item. 

All Planning Board actions, including final approvals, are posted on the City of Keene website the 
day after the meeting at KeeneNH.gov/planning-board. 

22 of 32

https://keenenh.gov/planning-board


3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov 

MEMORANDUM 

TO:   Planning Board 

FROM:   Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 

DATE:   November 14, 2025 

SUBJECT: Proposed Amendments to the Planning Board Regulations 

Recommendation: 

To hold a public hearing on the proposed changes to the Planning Board’s Subdivision 
Regulations, Site Development Standards, Earth Excavation Regulations, and Application 
Procedures. 

Background: 

The following are proposed changes to the Planning Board’s regulations in Article 20 of the Land 
Development Code (Subdivision regulations), Article 21 of the LDC (Site Development Standards), 
Article 25 of the LDC (Earth Excavation Regulations), and Article 26 of the LDC (Application 
Procedures). These proposed amendments are intended to clarify language within the code, 
correct errors with respect to wording, update submittal requirements to match current practice, 
and reflect recent changes to state law regarding the timeframes for “Active and Substantial 
Development” and “Substantial Completion” of subdivision and site plan applications. 

In addition, the proposed changes include amendments to the Site Plan Review Thresholds in 
Article 26 of the Land Development Code.  The intent of these proposed modifications is to adjust 
the thresholds to increase the number of projects that qualify for Minor Site Plan Review, 
encourage driveway designs that comply with City standards, and establish clear thresholds for 
projects that involve the creation of new residential units. 

Language to be removed is identified with strikethrough, and new language is identified with 
boldface underline and is highlighted. 

23 of 32



Proposed Amendments: 

1. Amend Section 20.2.5 of the Subdivision Regulations to include language from Section 
23.3.2 “Lot Monuments,” as follows. The intent of this proposed change is to ensure 
consistency between the Subdivision Regulations administered by the Planning Board and 
the public infrastructure standards administered by the Public Works Department. 

20.2.5 Monumentation 
In accordance with Article 23 of this LDC, Tthe owner or developer shall provide 
permanent reference monuments in accordance with Article 23 of this LDC and final 
subdivision plans shall not be signed and recorded until after the monuments have 
been installed by the developer and verified by the Public Works Director, or 
security in an amount deemed satisfactory to the Public Works Director is posted 
ensuring the monuments will be set. 

2. Add a new section “E” after Section 21.6.1.D of the Site Development Standards to clarify 
the definition of “Primary Entrance” and reinforce other sections of the LDC that require 
service areas, drive-through windows, and other potentially disruptive areas to be located 
away from primary entrances, as follows. 

E. Wherever possible, service areas, drive-through windows and lanes, 
mechanical equipment, parking areas, and other areas likely to generate noise, 
dust, traffic, or other disruptive conditions shall not be located adjacent to a 
primary entrance. For the purposes of this section, “primary entrance” shall 
mean the front and/or street-facing points of ingress and egress to a building. 

3. Amend Section 25.5 of the Earth Excavation Regulations to reflect the Planning Board’s 
decision to delegate its authority with respect to investigating and resolving complaints to 
Code Enforcement Staff, as follows. 

25.5 ENFORCEMENT 

A.  After a duly noticed public hearing, the Planning Board or its duly authorized 
agent may suspend or revoke the earth excavation permit of any person who has 
violated any provision of the permit, this Article, NH RSA 155-E, or of any person 
who made a material misstatement in the application upon which their permit 
was issued. Such suspension or revocation shall be subject to a motion for 
rehearing thereon and appeal in accordance with this article and NH RSA 677. 

B.  Any violation of the requirements of these regulations shall also be subject to 
the enforcement procedures detailed in NH RSA 676. 

C. In accordance with NH RSA 155-E:10, the Planning Board hereby designates 
code enforcement staff to act as its duly authorized agent with respect to 
investigating and resolving complaints regarding Earth Excavation operations. 

24 of 32



4. Amend the submittal requirements for subdivision applications in Section 26.10.5.2 and 
the submittal requirements for site plan applications in 26.12.5 to require two instead of 7 
copies of complete plan sets on 22-in by 34-in paper or larger size. In addition, amend these 
sections to clarify that electronic copies shall be submitted as flattened PDF files (i.e. 
without layers and free of PDF comments or annotations), as follows: 

26.10.5 Submittal Requirements 

2.  A complete plan set signed and stamped by a NH licensed surveyor. The plan 
set shall be submitted in both paper format (72-copies on 22-in by 34-in paper 
or larger size; 1-copy on 11-in by 17-in paper); and, an electronic format 
(flattened pdf file), which and shall include the following materials. 

26.12.5 Submittal Requirements 

B.  A complete plan set signed and stamped by a NH licensed engineer or architect. 
The plan set shall be submitted in both paper format  (72-copies on 22-in by 34-
in paper or larger size; 1-copy on 11-in by 17-in paper); and, an electronic format 
(flattened pdf file), which and shall include the following materials. 

5. Amend the submittal requirements for subdivision and boundary line adjustment 
applications in Section 26.10.5.B.2.c by adding a new sub-section “v” to require that 
proposed plans display the basic zone dimensional requirements for the underlying zoning 
district in which they are located as well as the existing and proposed zone dimensional 
information for the subject parcels, as follows. The intent of this proposed change is to 
make it easier to verify whether applications meet zoning or whether zoning relief is 
required earlier in the application review process. 

v.  The basic zone dimensional requirements of the underlying zoning 
district(s) and the existing and proposed basic zone dimensional 
information for the subject parcels. 

6. Amend Section 26.10.8.B.2 to clarify that an updated survey must provide the metes and 
bounds for any revised parcel boundaries and not necessarily for the entirety of the subject 
parcels, as follows. The intent of this proposed change is to reduce unnecessary costs for 
the applicant and reduce the number of waivers requested from this section. 

2.  An updated survey showing the boundary line adjustment, and all metes and 
bounds of the revised parcels portions of the parcel boundaries shall be 
prepared by the applicant following approval from the Planning Board, and shall 
be filed with the Community Development Department for recording in the 
County Registry of Deeds. 

25 of 32



7. Amend Section 26.10.11.C and Section 26.12.11.C to modify the timeframe for “Active and 
Substantial Development” for Subdivision and Site Plan applications, respectively, as 
follows. The intent of this proposed change is to align the LDC with recent changes to state 
law that increased the timeframe for active and substantial development from two to three 
years and clarify when the timeframe officially starts. 

C.  Active & Substantial Development. Active and substantial development of an 
approved project shall be completed within 23-years, starting the day following 
the Board’s decision to grant final approvale of the project or conditionally 
approve the application. Plans approved in phases shall be subject to a 
determination of active and substantial development for the current phase. For 
purposes of this Section, active and substantial development shall include all of 
the following. 

8. Add a new Section “D” after Section 26.10.11.C entitled “Substantial Completion” to clarify 
when the rights of the owner or the owner's successor in interest shall vest with respect to 
subdivision plans and align the code with recent changes to state law, which increased the 
timeframe for substantial completion from 5 to 7 years. 

D.  Substantial Completion. In accordance with NH RSA 674:39 et seq., Substantial 
Completion of an approved project shall occur within 7 years, starting the day 
following the Board’s decision to grant final approval, at which point the rights 
of the owner or owner’s successor shall vest. Plans approved in phases shall be 
subject to a determination of substantial completion for the current phase. For 
purposes of this Section, substantial completion shall include all of the 
following. 

1. All roadways shown on the approved plan are installed and paved through 
base course. If such road is intended to be public, the road must meet the 
conditions for final acceptance described in Article 23 of this LDC, as 
determined by the Public Works Director. 

2. All utilities shown on the approved plan are installed and ready for hook-up. 

3. All lot monuments, driveways and other site features shown on the approved 
plan are installed or completed. 

4. All on-site stormwater management, low impact design features, and 
permanent erosion control measures shown on the approved plan are 
installed and operational. 

5. All new buildings and structures shown on the approved plan are completed 
and are capable of being used for their intended purpose(s). 

6. All off-site improvements specified on the approved plan are completed or 

26 of 32



financial security in a format and amount acceptable to the Community 
Development Director has been posted with the City to ensure completion of 
such improvements. 

9. Add a new Section “D” after Section 26.12.11.C entitled “Substantial Completion” to clarify 
when the rights of the owner or the owner's successor in interest shall vest with respect to 
site plans and align the code with recent changes to state law, which increased the 
timeframe for substantial completion from 5 to 7 years. 

D.  Substantial Completion. In accordance with NH RSA 674:39 et seq., Substantial 
Completion of an approved project shall occur within 7 years, starting the day 
following the Board’s decision to grant final approval, at which point the rights 
of the owner or owner’s successor shall vest. Plans approved in phases shall be 
subject to a determination of substantial completion for the current phase. For 
purposes of this Section, substantial completion shall include all of the 
following. 

1. All roadways shown on the approved plan are installed and paved through 
base course. If such road is intended to be public, the road must meet the 
conditions for final acceptance described in Article 23 of this LDC, as 
determined by the Public Works Director. 

2. All utilities shown on the approved plan are installed and ready for hook-up. 

3. All on-site stormwater management, low impact design features, and 
permanent erosion control measures shown on the approved plan are 
installed and operational. 

4. All new buildings and structures shown on the approved plan are completed 
and are capable of being used for their intended purpose(s). 

5. All major on-site improvements shown on the approved plan, including 
landscaping, lighting, screening, on-site pedestrian and bicycle 
infrastructure, and parking areas are completed. 

6. All off-site improvements specified on the approved plan are completed or 
financial security in a format and amount acceptable to the Community 
Development Director has been posted with the City to ensure completion of 
such improvements. 

10. Amend the Site Plan Review Thresholds in Section 26.12.3 to raise the threshold for 
projects that involve new additions to go to Major Site Plan Review, create thresholds for 
projects that involve the creation, modification, or removal of street access, and create 
thresholds for projects that involve the creation of new residential units, as follows. 

27 of 32



26.12.3 Applicability 

A. Site Plan Review Thresholds. Site plan review is required for the following types of 
improvements described in Sections 26.12.3.A.1 (Major Site Plan) and 26.12.3.A.2 
(Minor Site Plan). It shall not be required for single-family and two-family dwellings or 
their associated accessory uses, provided such dwellings are not attached to a 
mixed-use building or located on a mixed-use lot containing non-residential or 
multifamily residential uses. 

1. Major Site Plan. Major site plan review is required for any proposal that meets or 
exceeds any of the below thresholds. 

a. New principal buildings or structures greater than 5,000 sf in gfa. 

b. Additions to existing buildings or structures 

i. In the Downtown Districts, additions that are greater than 15% of 
the gfa of the existing principal building. 

ii. In all other Districts, additions that are greater than 25% of the 
gfa of the existing principal building. 

c. Projects that involve the creation of 25 or more new residential 
dwelling units in one year. 

d. Change or increase of vehicle trips per day of 100, or per peak hour of 
50. 

e. Installation of impervious surfaces (e.g. pavement or gravel) that 
exceeds 10,000 sf in contiguous area. 

f. Land disturbance that impacts 1-acre or greater of land area. 

g. New street access where an exception is requested from the street 
access permit criteria in Article 23. 

h. Modifications to the site or building (e.g. lighting, landscaping, façade 
alteration, etc.), which, at the discretion of the Community Development 
Director, or their designee, warrants major site plan review. 

i. Change of use, which at the discretion of the Community Development 
Director, or their designee, warrants major site plan review. Such 
determination shall be based on an evaluation of the impacts of the 
proposed use on both the subject parcel and the surrounding 
neighborhood. 

2. Minor Site Plan. Minor site plan review is required for any proposal that meets 
any of the below thresholds. 

a. New principal buildings or structures that are between 1,000 and 5,000 
sf in gfa. 

b. Additions to existing buildings or structures 

28 of 32



i. In the Downtown Districts, additions that are between 10% and 
15% of the gfa of the existing principal building 

ii. In all other districts, additions that are between 15% and 25% of 
the gfa of the existing principal building. 

c. Projects that involve the creation of 15 to 24 new dwelling units in one 
year. 

d. Installation of impervious surfaces (e.g. pavement or gravel) that are 
10,000 sf or less in contiguous area, which, at the discretion of the 
Community Development Director, or their designee, and based on the 
nature of the proposal, warrants minor site plan review. 

e. Land disturbance that impacts less than 1-acre of land area, which, at 
the discretion of the Community Development Director, or their 
designee, and based on the nature of the proposal, warrants minor site 
plan review. 

f. Modifications to the site or building (e.g. lighting, landscaping, façade 
alteration, etc.), which, at the discretion of the Community Development 
Director, or their designee, warrants minor site plan review. 

g. Creation of new street access or requests to widen existing street 
access. 

h. Change of use, which at the discretion of the Community Development 
Director, or their designee, warrants minor site plan review. Such 
determination shall be based on an evaluation of the impacts of the 
proposed use on both the subject parcel and the surrounding 
neighborhood. 

B. Administrative Planning Review. Proposed development or redevelopment, including 
change of use, associated with uses other than single-family and two-family 
dwellings that does not meet the thresholds for major or minor site plan review shall 
be reviewed by the Community Development Director, or their designee, to verify 
compliance with the Site Development Standards in Article 21 of this LDC prior to the 
issuance of a building permit. Proposed modifications to commercial or multifamily 
street access that do not meet the threshold for minor or major site plan review 
shall be referred to the City Engineer for review prior to issuing a decision. The 
application and review procedures associated with Administrative Planning Review 
are described in Section 26.13. 

C. Unless otherwise noted in this Section, the Community Development Director, or their 
designee, has the authority to determine, on a case-by-case basis, based on the 
nature of the proposal, whether the proposed work requires review by the Planning 
Board, Minor Project Review Committee, or City staff, or whether any review is 
necessary. 

29 of 32



11. Amend Section 26.12.8.A.8 to articulate the process by which the Minor Project Review 
Committee may refer Minor Site Plan projects to the Planning Board for Major Site Plan 
Review, as follows. 

8.  Public Hearing. Upon reaching a finding that an application is complete, the 
Minor Project Review Committee may open the public hearing for the 
application. If at any point during the public hearing process it is determined 
that the Minor Project Review Committee does not have jurisdiction over the 
project for any reason (e.g., nonconformance with zoning, nonconformance 
with Site Development Standards, etc.), the Minor Project Review Committee 
shall refer the project to the appropriate decision-making authority for review. 

12. Amend Section 26.12.9.B to specify that final plans shall include all necessary professional 
stamps, as follows. 

B.  Prior to the signature of the Chair or Vice Chair of the respective decision-
making authority on an approved site plan, the applicant shall: 

1. Demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director, or 
their designee, that all conditions of approval have been met as specified by 
the respective decision-making authority; and, 

2. Provide complete copies of the approved plan set in a number and form as 
specified by the Community Development Department. Such plans shall be 
stamped by all licensed professionals who prepared the plans. 

13. Amend Section 26.12.13.A.4.a to require the submittal of a flattened PDF copy of as-built 
plans in addition to paper and electronic geodatabase file formats, as follows. 

a.  After a project is completed and prior to release of any security, applicants 
shall provide two paper copies of the complete set of "As-Built" plans on 22-
in by 34-in paper or larger size, a flattened pdf file, and as an electronic file in 
.dwg, .dxf, .shp or geodatabase format. 

14. Amend Section 26.14.11.A to clarify that there may be instances where a separate section 
of the LDC applies, as follows. 

A.  Unless otherwise specified in this LDC, aApplicants for a conditional use permit 
seeking a waiver from conditional use permit standards in the Zoning 
Regulations of this LDC, shall apply to the Zoning Board of Adjustment for a 
variance. 

30 of 32



15. Modify Section 26.10.14 “Waivers” by removing subsection E requiring subdivision waiver 
requests to be submitted following the same process and timeframe as required for formal 
applications to the Planning Board, as follows: 

26.10.14 Waivers 
A. Unless otherwise set forth in this LDC, the Planning Board may grant a waiver from 

strict compliance with provisions of the Subdivision Regulations in Article 19, 
applicable Site Development Standards in Article 20, or subdivision review 
standards in Section 25.10 on a case-by-case basis, so long as the Board finds, by 
majority vote, that: 

1. Specific circumstances relative to the subdivision, or conditions of the land in 
such subdivision, indicate that the waiver will properly carry out the spirit and 
intent of the regulations; and, 

2. Granting the waiver will not increase the potential for creating adverse impacts to 
abutters, the community or the environment; and, 

3. Consideration will also be given as to whether strict conformity with the 
regulations would pose an unnecessary hardship to the applicant. 

B. The Planning Board may grant a waiver from the requirement that a subdivision be a 
conservation residential development subdivision, upon reaching a finding that: 

1. Conservation values on a property would be better protected by a conventional 
subdivision design; 

2. A conservation residential development subdivision would significantly detract 
from the character of the surrounding neighborhood; and, 

3. A conventional subdivision design provides the only reasonable alternative to 
developing the parcel to be subdivided given the parcel configuration and site 
constraints. 

C. In granting a waiver, the Planning Board may require any mitigation that is 
reasonable and necessary to ensure that the spirit and intent of the standard being 
waived will be preserved, and to ensure that no increase in adverse impacts 
associated with granting the waiver will occur. 

D. Any waiver request shall be in writing and shall cite the specific regulation or 
standard the waiver is requested from and the reason(s) it cannot be met. 

E. Waiver requests shall be submitted following the same process and timeframe as is 
required for formal applications to the Planning Board. 

16. Modify Section 26.12.14 “Waivers” by removing subsection C requiring site plan waiver 
requests to be submitted following the same process and timeframe as required for formal 
applications to the Planning Board. 

31 of 32



26.12.14 Waivers 
A. Unless otherwise set forth in this LDC, the Planning Board may grant a waiver from 

strict compliance with provisions of the Site Development Standards in Article 21 or 
site plan review standards in Section 26.12, on a caseby-case basis, so long as the 
Board finds, by majority vote, that: 

1. Strict conformity would pose an unnecessary hardship to the applicant and the 
waiver would not be contrary to the spirit and intent of the regulations; or, 

2. Specific circumstances relative to the site plan, or conditions of the land in such 
site plan, indicate that the waiver will properly carry out the spirit and intent of the 
regulations. 

3. In granting a waiver, the Planning Board may require any mitigation that is 
reasonable and necessary to ensure that the spirit and intent of the standard 
being waived will be preserved, and to ensure that no increase in adverse impacts 
associated with granting the waiver will occur. 

B. Any waiver request shall be in writing and shall cite the specific regulation or 
standard a waiver is requested from and the reason(s) it cannot be met. 

C. Waiver requests shall be submitted following the same process and timeframe as is 
required for formal applications to the Planning Board. 

17. Amend the Earth Excavation Application Submittal Requirement Exemptions in Section 
26.19.5 to correct the “Submittal Requirements” section reference, as follows. 

26.19.5 Submittal Requirement Exemptions 
An applicant for an Earth Excavation permit may request the Community 
Development Director, or their designee, to exempt their application from any of the 
submission requirements referenced in Section 26.19.4. 

18. Amend Section 26.19.14 of the Earth Excavation Application Procedures to specify 
acceptable forms of security, as follows. 

26.19.14 Security 

Prior to the issuance of any earth excavation permit or to the removal of topsoil or 
other overburden material from any land area that has not yet been excavated, the 
applicant shall submit security in a form and amount acceptable to the City Engineer 
and the Community Development Director to be sufficient to guarantee compliance 
with the permit., and shall be either a certified check made out to the City of Keene 
or a letter of credit. 

1.  Performance Bonds shall not be an acceptable form of security. 

32 of 32


	MEMORANDUM
	MEMORANDUM

